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Part I. Ancient times (7th century B.C. – 5th century A.D.) 25

[...] 

Research has established the following: 
Type and purpose of object: underwater remnants of 
part of the territory of the ancient city of Akra. 
Burial depth: 4.5-7.5 m. 
Historical background: The ancient settlement of 

Akra is known from the accounts of Strato, Pliny and Arrian as a city of the European Bosporus. 
It has been identified at a site measuring 3.5 ha in area, located under water at a depth of up to 4.5 
m. It is situated 0.5 km S-O of the village of Naberezhne, on a headland formed by the sea and
Lake Yanysh.
Source: V.V. Nazarov. Hydroarcheological Map of the Black Sea Waters of Ukraine. Kyiv, 2003.
Condition of object: not fully studied. Included in the research programme of the Maritime
Museum of Ukraine as the first underwater archeological conservation area. Discovered at the
bottom of the Kerch Strait and first studied by V.N. Kholodkov (1982-1983), K.K. Shylik (1982-
1984), and O.V. Kulik (1994). Virtually the entire city is located on the sea bottom. Only its

OPKSU record card No. 295-d/a
Submerged part of the ancient city of Akra
/ 6th century B.C. /
Site coordinates: Kerch Strait
(S of Kerch, Autonomous Republic of Crimea) 
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western corner extends approximately 20 m onto the shore. The city is rectangular in shape. The 
presence of a harbor has been noted. A defensive wall of three-layered masonry up to 30 m long 
and 2.6 m thick has been discovered. Underwater research has revealed the presence of rectangular 
buildings and a cistern with seven intact jugs. A fortress wall can be traced for a length of 200 m 
under water and 15 m on the headland, which is separated from the sea by Lake Yanysh. On the 
shoreward side of the wall stands a tower measuring 7x7 m (5.5x5.5 m), which was built using 
dowels. A second wall was discovered 150 m from the first. Its remaining section is 10 m long. It 
is capped by a tower measuring 6.5x7 m. The two towers are similar to each other. An ancient well 
lined with stone was found 170 m from shore at a depth of 3 m. Numerous fragments of jugs, 
dishes and cups, anchor parts, mill stones, and many metal objects were also found. Based on the 
nature of some of the finds, one may conclude that the necropolis of Akra has been located. A 
bronze sculpture of a mermaid was found by the sea.

[...]

UA-461

TRANSLATION



Part II. Middle Ages (5th - 16th centuries) 43

[...] 

Research has established the following: 
Type and purpose of object: remnants of the hull and 
cargo of a Byzantine merchant ship
Burial depth: 132-135 m.
Archive materials: none 
Source: Archive of the Department of Underwater 

Heritage of Ukraine, 2005. 
Condition of object: not studied. Discovered by Ukrainian-American “Black Sea 2006” 
underwater archeological expedition in 2006. They discovered the cargo, consisting of nearly 200 
Taman-style long-necked jugs from the 9th-10th century and small fragments of the ship’s frame 
and stringers. In 2007, the Byzantium 2007 expedition took photographs of the site, conducted 
sounding procedures, and mapped the site out. Two jugs were raised to the surface. 

Research has established the following: 
Type and purpose of object: remnants of the hull and 
cargo of a Byzantine merchant ship
Burial depth: 13-15 m. 
Archive materials: none 
Source: Archive of the Department of Underwater 

Heritage of Ukraine, 2005. 

OPKSU record card No. 1061-p/a
Wreck site of unidentified Byzantine ship
/ 9th - 10th century /
Site coordinates: 70 km SW of Cape 
Chersones (Autonomous Republic of Crimea)

OPKSU record card No. 1913-p/a
Wreck site of unidentified Byzantine ship
/ 9th - 10th century /
Site coordinates: 7 m N of Adalary Rocks
(Artek International Children’s Center, 
Autonomous Republic of Crimea)
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Condition of object: not studied. Discovered by an underwater archeological expedition of the 
Department of Underwater Heritage of Ukraine in 2006 (V.Ye. Herasimov). The cargo was 
discovered, consisting of fragments of jugs from the 9th-10th centuries, two Byzantine-style 
anchors, and fragments of the ship’s boiler. 

[...] 
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[...] 

Research has established the following: 
Type and purpose of object: two-masted merchant 
(cargo-passenger) barque (according to Lloyds 
Register 1853). In 1854 it was refitted as a brig (a 
third mast was installed). Highest classification as at 
1841: “9A1”. 
Owner of the object: British Expeditionary Fleet in 

Crimea. Shipowners: George Thompson Junr, “Aberdeen & Commonwealth Line” (1841), “W. 
Jenkins & Co, Swansea (1849), John Richardson, John Crow Richardson/Swansea Wales 
(30/06/1852), Henry Dobson/”81 Princess Street Bristol England” (05/02/1853), W. Dobbin (Port 
of Bristol, 1852), Jordison (1855). 
Built in 1841 (city of Aberdeen, “Walter Hood” Shipyard, shipbuilder: Walter Hood). 
Launched in October 1841. 
Captains: Alex Duthie (1841), William Honey [sic] (1849), Thomas Thomas (1852), Richard 
Pernam (December 1854 – March 1855), Henry Hamden (March 1855 – May 1855) 
Port of registration: Aberdeen (1841), Swansea (1849), Bristol (1852), London (1855) 
Displacement: 500 tons (according to data from Lloyds agency – 380/385/381 tons). 
Length: 35.45 m 
Beam: 7.19 m 
Test depth: 15.12/5.18 m 
Crew (as at 1855): 12  
Height between decks: 2.26 m (the vessel was equipped with an improved ventilation system) 
Burial depth: 86-84 (bottom) / 76-75 m (deck). 
Historical background: According to unofficial information, Agnes Blaikie was the name of a 
real person – the wife of Aberdeen mayor (1841) Thomas Blaikie. Vessel’s first port of destination: 
Santiago-de-Cuba. Its voyage to Cuba in 1843 is documented (“Aberdeen & Commonwealth 
Lines”). Subsequently discovered archival information records the barque’s use on Australian 
routes (under the ownership of Mr Dobbin of Bristol). Information indicates

OPKSU record card No. 1500-p/a
Barque Agnes Balikie, 
leased to the British Expeditionary Fleet in 
Crimea
/ 1854-1855 / 
Site coordinates: outer harbor of Balaklava 
Bay (Autonomous Republic of Crimea)
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that the barque made voyages on the Baltic and Mediterranean Seas and off the coasts of western India, 
South Africa, and North and South America. In 1854 the barque was chartered by the British 
government to support the Crimean military campaign. According to the government charter, the 
barque (Captain Richard Perriam [sic]) departed on a voyage from Woolwich to Balaklava on 
21/12/1854. According to some reports, the vessel was carrying weaponry, kit, munitions and 
provisions; other reports indicate it was carrying cannonballs (180 t) and coke (250 t). The Times
reported in December 1854 that 180 t of cannonballs and 250 t of coal had been loaded onto the barque 
at the Royal Arsenal docks for a customer in Crimea. In January 1855, the barque and its cargo 
embarked on a new voyage: Britain – Malta – Crimea. According to unconfirmed reports, the barque 
arrived in Malta on 16/09/1855 and spent around two months there. There is no documentary evidence 
of a change of general cargo aboard the vessel during this period. On 15/04/1855, the barque (Captain 
Henry Hamden) set course for Balaklava. The barque’s arrival in Balaklava is not documented. In May 
1855, the barque Agne Blaikie de-berthed at the port of Balaklava. On 5 (8) May 1855, the barque sank 
because of a navigational error resulting in a collision with the HMS Medina (a wooden paddle steamer 
with a displacement of 889 t, launched in March 1840). The naval hydrographic ship HMS Medina
(commander: Lieutenant Henry Beresford) was conducting a cartographic survey in that part of Crimea 
at the time. The archives contain a report (The Times, 1855) that the petty officer of the watch aboard 
the HMS Medina subsequently committed suicide (cut his own throat), as he was to blame for the 
sinking of the barque. During the disaster, the entire crew of the barque was saved (and there is 
documentary proof that the crew received full pay and were included as crew members of another 
vessel). All of the ship’s documents were lost in the disaster. The crew of the Agnes Blaikie were saved 
by a team from the HMS Medina. 
Source: Register of Underwater Heritage of Ukraine, 2004; British National Maritime Museum 
(Lloyds survey report on the barque Agnes Blaikie/ October 23-29, 1841); British National Archive 
(Account of the crew of f(?)Ign going ship, to be delivered at the end of the voyage to the shipping 
master at the above port/ 22/2/1858(?); Agnes Blaikie). British National Archive (log of the 
proceedings of HMS Medina / 5-6 day of May 1855); British National Maritime Museum (Lloyds 
Register/ 1853). 
Condition of object: not studied. The site was discovered in August 2004. Examined on 18/09/2003 
(A. Kopnin (Aquamarine Dive Club) and M. Falkovskyi (Fregat Dive Club)). Preservation: 65%. The 
ship rests on an even keel. The hull is wooden (oak). There is a vertical gash in the central part of the 
port side (probably resulting from the collision with the other vessel). The remnants of two masts are 
strewn across the deck and along the port side. The deck is undamaged. There are remnants of a fishing 
trawl on the stem. Admiralty-pattern bower anchors are located on the port and starboard sides beneath 
the stem. Remnants of the wheel and steering mechanism are attached to the aft superstructure. The 
glass of the aft superstructure (captain’s quarters and mess) is missing. Furniture and personal items 
are located in the middle of the quarters. Fragments of a decorative piece (ornament) were observed in 
the aft section and hold. General cargo is located in the middle of the cargo holds. The cargo was not 
identified. There are no armaments on the ship. The vessel was identified during an expedition of the 
Department of Underwater Heritage of Ukraine (8-13/09/2006, K. Istratova, D. Shapovalov and A. 
Bykov). An engraved fog bell (with an unusual fastening system and non-standard positioning) was 
found. According to information provided by law-enforcement agencies, some personal artefacts have 
been plundered by dive centers and structural subdivisions of the Ministry of Defence of Ukraine. 

[...]
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[...]

Research has established the following: 
Type and purpose of object: coastal submarine (UB-1
project).
Owner of the object: Constantinople Half-Flotilla of 
the German Navy
Laid down: 15/11/1914 (Krupp Shipyard, Germany). 
Launched: 30/11/1914 (yard building number 245). 

Crew: 14  
Maximum length: 28.1 m 
Maximum beam: 3.5 m 
Draught: 3.0 m 
Diametre of pressure hull: 3.2 m 
Surfaced/submerged displacement: 127/142 t 
Propulsion: diesel engine – 60 bhp  
electric motor – 120 shp 
Speed: 7 knots, 6 knots 
Range (4 hours submerged): 45 nmi 
Range (surfaced, at a speed of 5 knots): 1,650 miles 
Armaments: 
one MG-type gun (special 37-mm or 47-mm submarine gun) 
two 450 mm torpedoes 

Historical background: The UB-7 submarine was built in November 1914 at the Krupp Shipyard with 
the participation of AG Weser under an order from the German Naval Command (Admiral Tirpitz) as 
part of a series of 17 UB-1 coastal submarines (UB-1 – UB-17). In 1915, six of the coastal submarines 
(UB-1, UB-3, UB-7, UB-8, UB-14, and UB-15) were disassembled and transported by railway from 
Kyiv to the city of Pola. After the UB-7 was reassembled (together with the UB-8), it sailed on

OPKSU record card No. 298-p
Coastal submarine UB-7, Constantinople 
Half-Flotilla of the German Navy
/ 1916 / 
Site coordinates: N of Cape Chersones 
(Autonomous Republic of Crimea)
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to Constantinople. Effective 25/06/1915, by order of the Commander of the German Navy, the UB-7
was included as part of the half-flotilla (UB-21, UB-8, UB-14 and UB-15) operating in the Black Sea 
theatre against the Russian Imperial Navy (based at the Port of Varna, Bulgaria). The submarine is 
known to have participated in nine naval campaigns. On 27/10/1915, the submarine attacked the 
battleship Panteleimon; on 06/02/1916, the aircraft transports Alexander I and Nikolai I; and on 
02/05/1916, the “decoy ship” Prepodobyy Sergiy (No. 128). On 15/09/1915, under the command of 
Hans Lutjohann (according to “U-boat operations of the Second World War” – Werner), the UB-7
attacked a convoy of the Russian Imperial Navy consisting of transport ships No. 30 (Empress Maria), 
No. 61 (Svyatogor) and No. 46 (Patagonia), which were sailing from the Port of Odessa to the Port of 
Mykolaiv. Transport No. 46 Patagonia (6,011 t) was sunk off the coast of the village of Dofinivka. On 
27/09/1916, the UB-7 (Lieutenant Lutjohann) departed from the Port of Varna to the area around the 
Port of Sevastopol. In addition to the crew, the vessel was also carrying a radio-telegraph officer of the 
fleet. The submarine never returned to base. It is officially considered to have disappeared. There is a 
theory that the submarine was sunk on 30/09 – 01/10/1916 by a seaplane (an M-9-type “flying boat”) 
of the Russian Imperial Air Force north of Cape Chersones. According to archival materials from the 
State Historical Archives of the Russian Federation, the submarine sank after striking a mine. Fifteen 
crew members perished.
Source: Register of Underwater Heritage of Ukraine, 2004
Condition of object: not studied 

[...]
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Range: 1,300 nmi. 
Armaments:
one 47-mm gun;
one machine gun; 
Schulz mine-sweeper;
shield sweeper.

Historical background: On 15/10/1916, the tugboat Borisfen was mobilised and equipped as a 
minesweeper. It participated in the First World War. On 16/12/1917, the minesweeper T-255 switched 
allegiance to the Soviet authorities. In 1918 (the precise date is unknown), the minesweeper sank for 
unknown reasons. No information is available regarding the fate of the crew.
Source: Register of Underwater Heritage of Ukraine, 2004
Condition of object: not studied

Research has established the following:
Type and purpose of object: transport (passenger and cargo 
steamship).
Owner of the object: Black Sea Fleet (Russian Steam 
Navigation and Trading Company). 
Built in 1877 (Great Britain). First name: Reola. 
Displacement: 2,638 t 

Length: 74.4 m 
Beam: 9.9 m 
Draught: 6.0 m 
Propulsion: 750 bhp engine 
Speed: 9/7 knots 
Range: 2,400 nmi 
Historical background: On 12/03/1915, the cargo and passenger steamship Reola was mobilised and 
included as part of the Black Sea Fleet as a transport ship. It participated in the First World War. On 
16/12/1917, it switched allegiance to the Soviet authorities. On 13/03/1918, transport ship No. 30 sank off 
the coast of Ochakiv as a result of an accident (navigational error). No information is available regarding 
the fate of the crew.
Source: archival materials from the State Historical Archive of the Russian Federation 
Condition of object: not studied

Research has established the following:
Type and purpose of object: self-propelled barge 
Owner of the object: Black Sea Fleet.
Built in 1872 (Great Britain). 
Displacement: 58 t 
Length: 25.0 m 
Beam: 4.4 m 
Draught: 1.8 m 

Propulsion: 100 bhp engine 
Speed: 7 knots 
Archival materials: During WWI, the barge Taganrog was mobilised and included as part of the Black Sea 
Fleet as a port vessel. On 16/12/1917 it switched allegiance to the Soviet authorities. In 1918 (the precise 
date is unknown) the barge Taganrog was sunk in Sevastopol harbor. No information is available regarding 
the fate of the crew.
Source: archival materials from the State Historical Archive of the Russian Federation 
Condition of object: not studied

OPKSU record card No. 1813-p
Transport No. 30 (Empress Maria), Black 
Sea Fleet
/ 1918 / 
Search coordinates: Waters off Berezan Island 
(Mykolaiv Region)

OPKSU record card No. 585-p
Self-propelled barge Taganrog, Black Sea 
Fleet
/ 1918 / 
Search coordinates: outer harbor of 
Sevastopol (Autonomous Republic of Crimea)
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Research has established the following:
Type and purpose of object: transport (cargo steamship)
Owner of the object: Black Sea Naval Forces (port of 
registration: Odessa)
Built in 1886 (Sunderland, England).  
First name: Vermouth 
Displacement: 1,369 t
Length: 68.7 m 

Beam: 11.1 m 
Draught: 5.1 m 
Propulsion: 550 bhp engine
Speed: 9/7 knots
Range: 2,000 nmi 
Burial depth: 90 m (to bottom), 80 m (to deckhouse) 
Historical background: On 12/03/1915, the cargo steamship Vermouth was mobilised and included as part 
of the Black Sea Fleet as a transport ship. It participated in the First World War. On 16/12/1917, it switched 
allegiance to the Soviet authorities. On 01/05/1917, it was captured by German troops at the Port of 
Sevastopol. In October 1918 is was captured by units of the White Army. On 18/10/1918, it was returned 
to its owners. In 1922 (the precise date is unknown), transport ship No. 27 exploded and sank. According 
to information from the Central Naval Archive of the Russian Federation, the transport ship sank in 
Sevastopol Bay near the Konstantynivka battery. No information is available regarding the fate of the crew 
members.
Source: archival materials from the State Historical Archive of the Russian Federation  
Condition of object: 70% preserved. It is embedded bow-first in the ground with a list to the starboard side. 
A plaque was found in the engineering department with the year of construction and name of the shipyard 
in England. The ship’s log was found in the pilothouse. The holds are open. There is secure access to the 
engineering department. It was discovered on 29/04/2006 (Tek Force Dive Center). 

[...]

OPKSU record card No. 1812-p
Transport ship No. 27 (Ignatiy Prokhorov), 
Black Sea Naval Forces
/ 1918 / 
Search coordinates: W of Sevastopol Bay 
(Autonomous Republic of Crimea)
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[...]

Research has established the following:
Type and purpose of object: Kasatka-class submarine
Owner of the object: Submarine Brigade of the Russian 
Imperial Black Sea Fleet (squadron of the Anglo-French 
expeditionary force).
Laid down: first half of 1904 (Baltic Shipyard in St. 
Petersburg). 

Launched: 21/08/1904 
Maximum length: 33.5 m 
Maximum beam: 3.35 m (3.4 m according to the Central Naval Archive of the Russian Federation) 
Displacement surfaced/submerged: 140/177 t  
Draught: 3.4 m 
Power of engines (single-shaft), surfaced/submerged: 1x100/1x100 bhp (120/100 bhp according to the 
Central Naval Archive of the Russian Federation) 
Speed, surfaced/submerged: 8.5/5.5 knots 
Range, surfaced/submerged: 700/30 nmi (600/400 nmi according to the Central Naval Archive of the 
Russian Federation) 
Diving depth: 50 m 
Crew: 24 
Armaments: 

one 47-mm artillery gun;
one machine gun; 
four Dzhevetsky external torpedo tubes 

Historical background: In December 1903, the Kasatka-class submarine project was approved by the 
Maritime Engineering Committee. The submarine’s unique structural features included the vessel’s 
nose, which could be used as a ram to damage the hull of light unarmoured vessels (a 19th-century 
tactic). The submarine’s armaments consisted of four advanced torpedoes placed in external 
Dzhevetsky tubes. In September 1904, the submarine Skat conducted a test dive. Upon the completion 
of testing, the boat was transported by rail to the Port of Vladivostok. On 12/12/1904, it became part 
of the Russian Imperial Navy (assembled on 29/03/1905). From 03/04/1905 to 11/03/1906, it 
completed a number of campaigns as a destroyer under a naval training programme. From 1906 to 
September 1914, the submarine Skat was part of the Siberian Naval Flotilla. By order of the 
commander of the Navy, the submarine was transported to Sevastopol in the fall of 1914, becoming 
part of the Black Sea Fleet. It saw combat during the Russo-Japanese War and the First World War. 
No archival information is available regarding its specific combat engagements. On 16/12/1917, it 
switched allegiance to the Soviet authorities. In February 1918, the submarine Skat was mothballed at 
the Port of Sevastopol. The submarine Skat was captured by German troops on 01/05/1918, by White 
Army units in November 1918, and by Anglo-French expeditionary forces in December 1918. On 22-
24/04/1919, it was sunk off the coast of Sevastopol. 
Source: Register of Underwater Heritage of Ukraine, 2004  
Condition of object: not studied  

OPKSU record card No. 302-p
Submarine Skat / Kasatka-class / Russian 
Imperial Black Sea Fleet 
/ 1919 / 
Site coordinates: off Sevastopol Bay 
(Autonomous Republic of Crimea)
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[...]

Research has established the following:
Type and purpose of object: cargo and passenger 
steamship (original name: Simbirsk, renamed Lenin in 
1925)
Owner of the object: Black Sea State Shipping 
Company 
Built: 1909 (Danzig). 
Launched: 1915 

Gross tonnage: 2,713 grt
Speed: 16.5 knots 
Maximum length: 94.8 m 
Maximum beam: 12.6 m
Draught: 5.7 m 
Passenger capacity: 472
Cargo capacity: two holds in the nose section for 400 t of cargo 
Burial depth: 97 m
Elevation above the ground: 18 m 
Historical background: After commissioning, it sailed routes on the Far Eastern lines of the Russian 
Empire. In late 1925, it was transferred to the Black Sea (Crimea-Kavkaz routes). It underwent major 
repairs in 1940. In 1941, the vessel got into an accident (no documents available). In 1941 it was 
upgraded (two funnels were replaced with one). On 12/07/1941, in connection with the start of military 
hostilities, it made a voyage under the command of Captain I.S. Borisenko 

OPKSU record card No. 170-p
Steamship Lenin, Black Sea State Shipping 
Company of the People’s Commissariat of 
the Naval Fleet of the USSR
/ 1941 / 
Search coordinates: off Cape Sarych 
(Autonomous Republic of Crimea)
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from Odessa to Mariupol, carrying evacuees and a cargo of sugar. On 22/07/1941, the Lenin received an order 
from the management of the Black Sea State Shipping Company regarding the urgent transportation of cargo 
and passengers from Odessa to Mariupol. According to information provided by the officer in charge of loading, 
Senior Lieutenant Romanov of the port commandant’s office, single boarding cards were allocated for blocks of 
2-3 adult passengers. Children were not counted at all. A significant (unknown) number of passengers got onto 
the vessel by presenting notes from the city and regional party committees and military commandant’s office of 
Odessa. Crew members are known to have arbitrarily placed family and friends in their own quarters (number 
unknown). According to unconfirmed reports (based on the transcripts of interviews conducted by investigators 
from the People’s Commissariat of the Armed Forces), there were around 4,000 people on board. Prior to 
departure, another 1,200 military conscripts came aboard, having been ordered to report to army training centres. 
According to the investigators’ report, every salon, galley, companionway, hold and deck was jam-packed with 
people. The evacuated assets of Odessa State Bank (information not confirmed) and 400 (350/450) tonnes of 
non-ferrous metal ingots were also loaded onto the transport ship. The voyage was made under special navigation 
conditions in an area where a defensive minefield had been laid. Because the lighthouses had been switched to 
a managed illumination schedule, ships were required to engage a pilot. The vessel was escorted by naval pilot 
Lieutenant I.I. Svistun (a graduate of the Leningrad Maritime Academy (Frunze Higher Naval Academy)). At 
10:00 PM on 24/07/1941, the transport ship Lenin departed for the Port of Mariupol (Yalta) as part of a convoy 
(together with the steamship Voroshilov, the vessel Berezin and two barges). During the voyage, contact with 
the operations duty officer on shore was lost. Due to the different powers of the vessels’ propulsion systems, the 
convoy broke up off the coast of Cape Tarkhankut. The Voroshilov’s engines failed completely off the coast of 
Cape Lukull. In violation of the route conditions, the Lenin towed the Voroshilov to Kazachaya Bay by the Port 
of Sevastopol. At 7:00 PM on 27/07/1941, the transport ship Lenin departed from the Port of Sevastopol as part 
of a convoy (with the transport ships Voroshilov and Gruziya, which joined the convoy off the coast of Balaklava) 
escorted by naval patrol boats SKA-026 (SKA-025) and MO-4, setting its course for the Port of Yalta (and 
onwards to Port Kavkaz). The total number of passengers aboard the Lenin, Voroshilov and Gruziya was around 
10,000. The convoy officers had not been properly instructed (as required) in Sevastopol, no-one had been 
appointed to lead the convoy, and the special rules of navigation and safety procedures in this area had not been 
clearly explained. The vessel was sailing without being able to verify its bearings, drifting under the influence 
of a northerly wind and the current (by Cape Fiolent). The personal flotation devices (life preservers) were under 
lock and key. The ships sailed in the following order: Lenin, Gruziya, Voroshilov. At 11:33, off the coast of Cape 
Sarych, after the Lenin turned towards the naval vessel fairway, there was an explosion near its holds No. 1 and 
No. 2 on the starboard side. After the explosion, the Gruziya and Voroshilov turned away – one to starboard and 
the other to port – and cut their engines.  
The steamship started to sink bow-first while listing to starboard. When the list reached 15°-20°, the funnel 
became detached (this is according to archival information from the Central Naval Archive of the Russian 
Federation, whereas the report from the underwater studies indicates that the funnel remained in place). Within 
7-10 (5-7) minutes, the transport ship went down in a vertical position (with its stern in the air and its propellers 
still turning). Because it sank so quickly, most of the passengers did not have time to abandon ship. They did not 
have time to lower the lifeboats. Rescue efforts were made by the patrol ship MO-4 (with a delay of 30-40 
minutes) and the transport ships Gruziya (which saved around 300 people) and Voroshilov (which saved 200). 
The official number of fatalities was up to 900 people. Around 600 people were saved (only those who had life 
preservers or life belts, or who had been pulled up into the lifeboats). According to information from the Yalta 
Commandant’s Office, 272 people were saved. The captain, his three mates, and the pilot were the last people 
to abandon the ship. Half of the crew (43 out of 92) were saved. A rescue group from the torpedo patrol boats of 
the Balaklava base arrived too late. The disaster was investigated by the People’s Commissariat of the Armed 
Forces for the Crimean Region and by a special department of the Soviet Black Sea Fleet. The investigation 
revealed a number of serious organisational and technical flaws in preparing the vessel for its voyage and 
arranging the pilot escort. It was revealed that the passengers had not been properly counted when boarding the 
vessel. None of the main navigational equipment – the rail and electric logs and echo sounder (which, according 
to the Ministry of the Maritime Fleet, was missing altogether) – was checked. The magnetic compass
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gave incorrect readings (two guns had been installed next to it). The caravan was also badly formed. 
The Lenin and the Gruziya had speeds of up to 15 knots, while the Voroshilov had a speed of just 5. 
This resulted in repeated stoppages of the Lenin’s machinery, which complicated the already difficult 
plotting and calculations. The pilot was not given a detailed map of the minefield. The managed 
onshore navigational equipment was not requested and turned on. There were no infrared binoculars 
and no location finder on board. The pilot’s numerous reasonable requests to stop the ship and lie at 
anchor (until daylight) were denied. Based on the investigations, there are three hypotheses about the 
loss of the transport ship Lenin. 1. The ship was torpedoed by the Romanian submarine Delfinul (Gerd 
Enders’ book German Submarines in the Black Sea). This theory is supported by the witness 
testimonies of passengers aboard the Voroshilov, who saw the trace of a torpedo, and the testimonies 
of watch radio operator I. Nazaretiy and machine operator 1st class P. Popov regarding a strong impact 
on the starboard side prior to the explosion, but is not supported by Romanian archival sources. There 
is information regarding the sinking of an unidentified submarine at 10:00 AM on 28/07/1941 in the 
vicinity of the Sevastopol base of the Soviet Black Sea Fleet. According to unconfirmed reports, the 
secret archives of the State Military Archive of the Russian Federation contains materials (reports) 
from the Kriegsmarine submarine command regarding the torpedoing of the Lenin. According to other 
reports, only submarines of the Royal Fleet of Romania were operating in the waters of the Black Sea 
in 1941. 2. Calculation errors were made in steering the vessel, as a result of which it drifted outside 
the fairway and hit a mine in the defensive minefield (testimony of navigation officer Bendersky). 3. 
The loss of the transport ship was probably caused by hitting a floating mine. On 11/08/1941, a closed 
session of the Military Tribunal of the Soviet Black Sea Fleet (presiding member: Brigade Legal 
Officer Lebedev; members: Brigade Legal Officer Bondar and Military Officer 3rd Rank Fridman), 
citing evidence of this theory, sentenced naval pilot I.I. Svistun to death. On 18/08/1992, the Military 
Tribunal of the Black Sea Fleet (presiding member: Colonel of Justice A.D. Ananiev together with 
Assistant Prosecutor of the Fleet Lieutenant-Colonel S.G. Mardashin) reviewed the criminal case at a 
court session on a supervisory basis and ruled as follows “To quash the verdict of the Military Tribunal 
of the Black Sea Fleet dated 12/08/1941 against I.I. Svistun and to drop the case for lack of the elements 
of a crime”.
Source: Register of Underwater Heritage of Ukraine, 2004; Materials from the Central Naval Archive 
of the Russian Federation. Files No. 743 of the Archive and Information Department of the Naval 
Fleet, 32780 of the Central Naval Archive of the Russian Federation, and 760 of the Central State 
Archive of the National Economy). 
Condition of object: not fully studied. Included in the list of sites that have the status of a mass grave, 
access to which is prohibited. The coordinates indicated in the archival documents are not accurate. 
Discovered in 2004. According to unconfirmed information, the vessel was examined by a special 
underwater expedition in 1953. The holds were found to be open, and the general cargo was missing. 
In 2005, the Department of Underwater Heritage of Ukraine recorded the theft of the ship’s navigation 
and steering equipment. The site was categorised by the Ukrainian-American Underwater 
Archeological Expedition in 2006. 

[...]
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Research has established the following:
Type and purpose of object: dry cargo, transport 
Owner of the object: Bulgaria 
Launched: 1937 
Gross tonnage: 2,143 grt (2,141 grt according to the Central 
Naval Archive of the Russian Federation)
Burial depth: 50 m 
Elevation above the ground: 15 m 
Historical background: On 20/08/1943, the transport ship 

Varna was sailing with a cargo of munitions as part of the Hermelin convoy bound for Cape Tarkhankut. The 
convoy was escorted by the destroyer Maresti of the Royal Fleet of Romania, the minelayer Amiral Murdescu,
the German Kriegsmarine minesweepers R-203, R-204 and R-206, the submarine hunter Uj 3201, and the high-
speed transport ships F-301 and F-304. At 08:47 AM, the transport ship Varna was torpedoed (with 2 torpedoes) 
by the submarine D-4 of the Russian Black Sea Fleet (commander: Lieutenant Captain I.Ya. Trofimov). The 
torpedo impact caused the cargo of munitions to explode, after which the ship broke in half and sank. Two (or 
three) crew members were killed.
Source: Register of Underwater Heritage of Ukraine, 2004; Files No. 694 and No. 17714 of the AMO. 
Condition of object: 50% preserved. The coordinates indicated in the archival documents are inaccurate. 
According to information from the hydrographic service of the Black Sea Fleet, the object was discovered in 
1982 at a distance of 3.5 km from the archival coordinates. The hull, foremast, and superstructure of the ship 
have been preserved in good condition. Cargo consisting of planks and barrels was found in one of the holds. A 
double-barreled anti-aircraft gun was found on the bow. The aft section has sustained significant damage.  

Research has established the following:
Type and purpose of object: F-class high-speed transport ship 
(“MFP”)
Owner of the object: Kriegsmarine, Germany
Displacement: 280 t 
Length: 47 m 
Beam: 6.53 m 
Draught: 1.45 m  
Engine (two options): two 600 bhp diesels and one 130 bhp, 

or three 130 bhp diesels 
Speed (maximum): 10.5 knots/7.5 knots 
Fuel reserve: 3060 t/5015 t 
Range (at a speed of 10.5 knots): 501 nmi 
Armour:
side: 20 mm;
 deckhouse: 20 mm 
Armaments:
one 7.5-cm gun (200 rounds); 
one 2-cm gun (2,080 rounds). Custom fitted with two guns (4,160 rounds); 
the transport ship could carry up to 52 mines; 

Seaworthiness rating: 5  
Historical background: On 21/08/1943, it was sunk by Russian Air Force bombers (30th Air Reconnaissance 
Regiment, 11th Guards Air Regiment, and 8th Guards Air Assault Regiment). No information is available 
regarding the fate of the crew members.
Source: Institut fuer Militaergeschichte Potsdam, Deutschland; Files No. 13096 and No. 15708 of the Soviet 
AMO. 
Condition of object: not studied

OPKSU record card No. 93-d
Transport ship Varna,
Owned by Bulgaria
/ 1943 / 
Site coordinates: Kalamitska Bay 
(Autonomous Republic of Crimea)

OPKSU record card No. 1581-p
Unidentified F-class Kriegsmarine high-
speed transport ship (Germany)
/ 1943 / 
Search coordinates: S-O of Cape Chauda 
(Autonomous Republic of Crimea)
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Research has established the following:
Type and purpose of object: series ShM-4 scow of the 
technical fleet (a tugboat according to information from 
the German archives)
Owner of the object: German Transport Fleet (interned 
in the USSR). 
Place of construction: Kyiv Leninska Kuznya Shipyard 
Launched: 1930 

Gross tonnage: 112 grt  
Displacement: 950 t (100 t) 
Maximum length: 50 m 
Burial depth: 14 m
Elevation above the ground: 8 m 
Historical background: On 03/09/1941, the barge was scuttled by its crew because it could not be 
evacuated during the retreat of Black Sea Fleet vessels, in order to prevent the vessel from being 
captured by Wehrmacht troops. In August 1941, it was raised, repaired, and included as part of the 
Kriegsmarine under the name tugboat Ancara (this information is not corroborated by any archival 
sources). On 23/08/1943, the interned barge Angara, sailing as part of a convoy that included the depot 
ship Uta and the vessels Meuse, Enderau, and Baikal, escorted by gunboats of the Royal Fleet of 
Romania Capitan Dumitrescu and Sublocotenent Ghigulescu, was torpedoed by the submarine M-36
(commander: Lieutenant Captain V.N. Komarov) and instantly sank. Archival information was found 
in the AVSO regarding the sinking of the barge by the submarine M-36 on 23/08/1942. No information 
is available regarding the fate of the crew.
Source: Register of Underwater Heritage of Ukraine, 2004; File No. 74 of the AMO of the Naval Fleet. 
Discovered on 17/05/1954. Re-examined in 2002. Examined by the hydrographic service of the Soviet Black 
Sea Fleet)
Condition of object: 55% preserved. Lies with its keel up. The bottom has eight rectangular open holes
(apparently from the impact of the torpedo from the M-36) There is no cargo in the hold. In order to 
identify the vessel, an instrument was detached from its main engine with the inscription: “Kyiv. 
Precision Instruments Plant”. 

[...]

OPKSU record card No. 9-d
Scow Angara,
German Transport Fleet
/ 1943 / 
Site coordinates: off the coast of Cape Burnas 
(Odessa Region)
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Research has established the following:
Type and purpose of object: dry cargo, transport  
Owner of the object: German Transport Fleet (Azov Naval 
Flotilla of the USSR, Azov State Shipping Company) 
Built: 1917-1929 at the Russud Shipyard Mykolaiv 
Gross tonnage: 956 grt (966 grt according to the Central 
Museum of the Armed Forces of Ukraine) 
Displacement: 

standard – 800 t (956 t according to archival information from the AVSO); 
full – 1,400 t (2,050 t) according to data from the Central Naval Archive of the Russian Federation 
Maximum length: 74.07 m 
Maximum beam: 10.36 m 
Draught: 3.1 m 
Crew: 169
Range:
full speed – 2,000 nmi; 

 endurance speed – 2,300 nmi 
Engine power: 750 bhp (2 pairs of TP machines) 
Speed: 
full – 8 knots; 

 endurance – 6 knots. 
Burial depth: 25 (30) m 
Elevation above the ground: 5 m 
Historical background: The gunboat Krasnaya Moldavia (Elpidifor No. 423) was part of the Azov Naval 
Flotilla of the USSR. From 1929 to 1941, it was refitted as an ore carrier of the Azov State Shipping 
Company [ASSC] and renamed the Volga-Don. On 08/10/1941, because it could not be evacuated during 
the withdrawal of ASSC vessels from the Port of Mariupol, it was scuttled by its crew. On 03/12/1941, it 
was raised, repaired and, in 1943, included as part of the German Kriegsmarine under the name Wolgo-
Don. On 23/11/1943 (or 25/11/1943 according to archival information from the Central Naval Archive of 
the Russian Federation), it was heading for the Port of Sevastopol as part of a convoy, with 325 t of 
Luftwaffe cargo aboard. The convoy was being escorted by: gunboats of the Royal Fleet of Romania Stihi
and Dumitrescu, minesweeper R-205, and submarine hunters Uj 3201 and Uj 32101 [sic]. At 15:09 (19:07) 
the transport ship was torpedoed in the aft section by submarine L-6 of the Soviet Black Sea Fleet 
(commander: Lieutenant Captain B.V. Gremyako). The vessel lost power 20 nmi SW of Cape Tarkhankut. 
The escort vessels removed the crew from the vessel while it remained afloat. At 00:45 the gunboat 
Dumitrescu attempted to tow the transport ship, but difficult weather conditions (a storm) prevented it from 
doing so. The tugboat broke apart at 08:00 and 11:39, sinking about 3 nmi from shore. Five people (two 
Luftwaffe soldiers, a boatswain and two stokers) perished. 
Source: Institut fuer Militaergeschichte Potsdam, Deutschland; Files No. 8857, 00113 (trophy), 32780 and 
34574 of the Soviet AMO. 
Condition of object: 80% preserved. The object is accessible for study. The coordinates of the object 
indicated in the archival documents are inaccurate. According to information from the hydrographic service
of the Black Sea Fleet, the transport ship was discovered in 1982 at a distance of 2.9 nmi from shore. The 
hull and superstructure are in a relatively well-preserved state but are washed away by sand up to the 
waterline. The aft section has sustained significant damage. Two masts lie across the deck. The hatches of 
the holds are open. Cargo was found in the holds, consisting of unidentified boxes, guns, small bomb shells, 
an automobile and a motorcycle, printed materials, and mail. The bow anchors are still in place. 

OPKSU record card No. 94-d
Transport ship Wolga-Don (Volga-Don), 
German Transport Fleet
/ 1943 / 
Site coordinates: off the coast of Lake 
Donuzlav (Autonomous Republic of Crimea)
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Research has established the following:
Type and purpose of object: transport ship 
Owner of the object: German Transport Fleet
Launched: 1921 
Gross tonnage: 4,626 grt 
Draught: 8.2 m 
Propulsion: 2,850 bhp 
Speed: 12 knots 

Passenger capacity: 45
Maximum length: 126.3 m 
Maximum beam: 15.4 m  
Burial depth: 21 m
Elevation above the ground: 10 m 
Historical background: On 03/10/1939, during a voyage from South America to Germany, the 
transport was seized by two lead ships of the French Navy. Its original name was changed to St. Andre
(until November 1942). In 1943, the vessel started operating on the Black Sea. On 23/11/1943, the 
transport ship was sailing from Constanta to Sevastopol as part of the Wotan convoy consisting of: the 
destroyer Maresti, the transport ship Lola, the minelayer Am. Murgescu, and the minesweepers R-165, 
R-197 and R-209). The cargo consisted of: 12 StuG 40 Aust G self-propelled guns, 2 Jgd Pz IV/70 (V),
1,278 t of military cargo (ammunition, rocket shells, air bombs, 100 anti-submarine mines, and petrol
/ gasoline in barrels). At 05:47 there was an explosion (a fire broke out) in the bow section (near the
1st hold) of the ship. At 05:50, the West Air Command Headquarters received a radio telegram from a
seaplane that was flying above the convoy: “Santa-Fe torpedoed. Vessel on fire”. At 06:36 a powerful
cargo explosion tore the vessel in half. At 06:43 the vessel sank. 28 (44) crew members died (including
22 from the assault division), 16 of whom are considered missing. There is no information as to the
cause of the wreck. The most likely reason is that the ship hit a mine that was laid in December 1943
by the Black Sea Fleet submarine L-6 (commander: Lieutenant-Captain B.V. Gremyako). There is a
theory that the transport ship was sunk by the submarine D-4, which did not return to base. It appears
that the D-4 was sunk on 04/12/1943 by anti-submarine bombs during a raid by the UG-44 anti-
submarine group consisting of the Uj-102, Uj-103, Uj-307, Uj-2305 and Uj-2308. Since the submarine
D-4 was operating in sector No. 94 (as confirmed by the radiograms regarding its attacks on 17 and
18/11/1943), while the transport ship was sunk on the boundary of sectors No. 95 and No. 06, in the
quadrants where the L-6 laid a group of mines in June 1943, the first theory has been recognised as
more likely.
Source: Institut fuer Militaergeschichte Potsdam, Deutschland; Register of Underwater Heritage of
Ukraine, 2004; Files No. 8857, 34574 and 138 of the Soviet AMO.
Condition of object: 40% preserved. The coordinates of the transport ship’s location indicated in the
archival documents are inaccurate. According to information from the hydrographic service of the Black
Sea Fleet, the transport ship was discovered in 1981 at a distance of 2.5 km from the archival coordinates.
The hull and superstructure are in damaged condition. The separated aft section lies nearby. The remnants
of StuG 40 Ausf G assault guns were found in the holds. Three assault guns were stolen.

OPKSU record card No. 97-d
Transport ship Santa Fe, German 
Transport Fleet
/ 1943 / 
Site coordinates: off the coast of Kalamitska 
Bay (Autonomous Republic of Crimea)
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